1992

Keith C. Holt, Joyce S. Holt v. Manuel Katsanevas : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

I. JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

UCA 78-2-2(3)(j) confers jurisdiction upon the Supreme Court to decide this appeal from a final judgment. The Court of Appeals has acquired jurisdiction under UCA 78-2a-3(2)(j) due to assignment by the Supreme Court.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

There are two primary and several secondary issues of law and fact. In rough order of importance, these are:

A. Is an oral modification of a written real estate contract taken out of the statute of frauds by part performance. The Appellate Court shows no deference to the legal conclusions of the trial court in granting summary judgment, reviewing them instead for correctness. Krantz v. Holt, 819 P.2d 352 (Utah 1991); Larsen v. Overland Thrift & Loan, 8818 P.2d 1316 (Utah App. 1991).

B. Was there manifest error in granting summary judgment because 1) genuine issues of material fact prevented summary judgment and 2) viewed in the light most favorable to the appellants, the facts do not support summary judgment. Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. In reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the Appellate Court views the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Krantz and Larsen, *supra*.

C. Should the trial court have amended its Findings, made additional Findings, and amended its Judgment pursuant to Rule 52 based upon the above errors in granting summary judgment.

The standard of review for throwing out Findings of Fact is that the finding must be clearly erroneous. A finding is clearly erroneous if it is against the great weight of the evidence or if the Court is otherwise definitely and firmly convinced that a mistake has been made. State vs. Walker, 743 P.2d 191 (Utah 1987), and Rule 52(a), U.R.C.P.

D. Should the trial court have granted the Holts' motion for new trial based upon the above errors in granting summary judgment. The standard for review is that a ruling on a motion for a new trial will not be disturbed on appeal except when there is a clear abuse of the Court's discretion. Jensen v. Thomas, 570 P.2d 695 (Utah 1977).

E. Should the trial court have granted the Holts' motion for relief from judgment under Rule 60 based upon the above errors in granting summary judgment. The standard for review of Rule 60(b) motions appears to be that the Supreme Court will reverse the trial court's ruling only when there has been an abuse of discretion. Larsen v. Collins, 684 P.2d 52 (Utah 1984).

III. CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

In the Holts' view, there are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations whose interpretation is determinative of this appeal.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceeding, and Disposition in the Court Below

The Holts brought a declaratory judgment action against defendant Manuel ("Mike") Katsanevas desiring determination of how a certain payment should be applied upon a Uniform Real Estate Contract. The trial court granted Mr. Katsanevas' motion for summary judgment in a Memorandum Decision entered November 4, 1991 and a Judgment entered November 27, 1991. The Holts, through new counsel, brought motions under Rules 52, 59, and 60(b) seeking to overturn the summary judgment. These motions were denied and the Holts appealed.

B. Statement of Facts

1. On or about April 2, 1979, the Holts and the Katsanevas brothers entered into a Uniform Real Estate Contract under which the Katsanevas brothers agreed to purchase from the Holts real property in Salt Lake City known as 280 West South Temple for the sum of \$275,000. (See Uniform Real Estate Contract, Record pp. 105-107, Appendix Exhibit 1.)

2. Pursuant to the contract, the Katsanevas brothers paid \$25,000 down and agreed to make equal monthly payments of \$2,400 each. The contract prohibited prepayment, stating: "After the first 120 months of payments, The Buyer, at his option at any time, thereafter may pay amounts in excess of the monthly

payments upon the unpaid balance. . . ." The contract provided that the Katsanevas brothers would be entitled to a warranty deed after the Holts had received the full purchase price. (See Uniform Real Estate Contract, Record pp. 105-107, Appendix Exhibit 1.)

3. Beginning in late 1981 or early 1982, Keith Holt and the Katsanevas brothers had several conversations in which the Katsanevases disclosed they were negotiating with Triad which wanted to buy 280 West South Temple for around \$3,000,000. The Katsanevases recognized that the Uniform Real Estate Contract would not give them title until the purchase price was paid and also prohibited prepayment. They wanted the Holts to convey 280 West South Temple and accept a security interest in other property. (See Second Affidavit of Keith Holt, paragraphs 2-4, Record pp. 209-219, Appendix Exhibit 9; Manuel Katsanevas Deposition, pp. 16-21, Appendix Exhibit 7.)

4. Around the summer of 1982, Keith Holt met with the Katsanevas brothers to discuss the terms for releasing 280 West South Temple. Also present were the attorney for the Katsanevas brothers and Robert Bailey, a senior loan officer at Continental Bank. Second Affidavit of Keith Holt, paragraph 6, Record pp. 209-219, Appendix Exhibit 9; Affidavit of Robert Bailey, paragraph 5, Record 205-207, Appendix Exhibit 10; Manuel Katsanevas Deposition, pp. 16-24 (issues of date, persons present), Appendix Exhibit 7.

5. After the Katsanevas brothers rejected two plans, the parties agreed orally upon a third plan as follows:

(a) The Holts would convey title to 280 West South Temple to the Katsanevas brothers when requested in order to permit them to sell the property to Triad. This conveyance was made about February 7, 1984. Second Affidavit of Keith Holt, paragraph 11, Record pp. 209-219, Appendix Exhibit 9.

(b) The Katsanevases would give the Holts collateral to secure the remaining purchase price of the property. The Katsanevases gave the Holts a trust deed and assignment of contract on February 13, 1984. Assignment of Contract (for Security), Record pp. 122-124, Appendix Exhibit 4; Trust Deed, Record pp. 111-112, Appendix Exhibit 3.

(c) In order to clear title to 280 West South Temple, the Katsanevases would pay off a lien held by Continental Bank. The Katsanevases paid Continental Bank the sum of \$46,386.51 on or about December 21, 1983. Receipt, Record p. 116, Second Affidavit of Keith Holt, paragraph 13, Record pp. 209-219, Appendix Exhibit 9.

(d) When the regular payments made by the Katsanevases had reduced the principal sum under the Uniform Real Estate Contract to \$46,386.51, the payment to Continental Bank would be applied and the contract would be paid in full. This last agreement gives rise to the present lawsuit. Keith Holt and Robert Bailey say there was such an agreement. Manuel Katsanevas

says there was not. The trial court found there was no agreement. Keith Holt Affidavit, paragraph 4, Record 138-139, Appendix Exhibit 8; Second Affidavit of Keith Holt, paragraphs 7-9, Record pp. 209-219, Appendix Exhibit 9; Affidavit of Robert Bailey, paragraphs 7-9, Record pp. 205-207, Appendix Exhibit 10; Manuel Katsanevas Deposition, pp. 23,24,26,27, Appendix Exhibit 7 (disputes agreement on application of payment); Memorandum Decision, Findings of Fact No. 12, Record pp. 175-178, Appendix Exhibit 11 (finding no agreement).

6. Although there is no explicit written modification of the original contract stating how to apply the \$46,386.51, several documents allude to it. Findings of Fact Nos. 8 and 9 of the Memorandum Decision are based on such documents. To understand their significance, one must understand that prior to the Katsanevases' payment of \$46,386.51 to Continental Bank, the principal balance due on the Uniform Real Estate Contract was about \$217,500. These provisions in question are:

(a) An Assignment of Contract (for Security) dated February 13, 1984, prepared by the Katsanevases' attorney and signed by the Katsanevases but not the Holts, stated in part:

This Assignment is given for the purpose of security payment of an indebtedness, in the principal sum of approximately \$172,000 owed by the Assignor [the Katsanevases], payable to the order of the Assignee [the Holts] pursuant to an agreement between the Assignor and Assignee.

[Terms in brackets do not appear in original.] Record pp. 122-124, Appendix Exhibit 4.

(b) A Trust Deed dated February 13, 1984 on a form filled out by the Katsanevases' attorney and signed by the Katsanevases but not the Holts stated in part:

For the purpose of securing payment of the indebtedness evidenced by a real estate contract dated April 2, 1979 in the principal sum of \$250,000, payable to the order of the Beneficiary [the Holts] at the times, in the manner and with interest as therein set forth,. . .
[Terms in brackets do not appear in original.] Record pp.111-112, Appendix Exhibit 3.

(c) A Release dated March 15, 1984, prepared by the Katsanevases' attorney for the purpose of releasing Steven Katsanevas from liability under the Uniform Real Estate Contract, was signed by the Holts and stated in the recitals as follows:

Whereas, the above referred to obligation due to the undersigned [the Holts] in the sum of \$172,000 (as more particularly described in the Trust Deed and Assignment of Contract) has been assumed by Manuel Katsanevas.
[Terms in brackets do not appear in original.] Record pp. 126-128, Appendix Exhibit 5.

(d) A schedule allocating payments between principal and interest and showing the remaining principal balance has been sent monthly to both the Holts and the Katsanevases by a bank acting as escrow agent since at least March, 1982. It shows that interest was being charged on about \$215,162 in March, 1983. This schedule did not reduce principal for the \$46,386.51 payment by the Katsanevases to Continental

Bank, which is consistent with the oral agreement asserted by the Holts. Manuel Katsanevas did not object to it until late 1989 and used it for tax purposes in 1983 and subsequent years. Second Affidavit of Keith Holt, paragraphs 12-14, and attachment, Record pp. 209-219, Appendix Exhibit 9; Manuel Katsanevas Deposition, pp. 39-44, Appendix Exhibit 7.

(e) A letter dated March 17, 1986, sent by the Holts to Manuel Katsanevas and signed by the Holts, stated:

For your files, we are sending you the following information on the real estate contract you have with us.

The pay off to Continental Bank for \$45,313.92 you made in December 1983 is to be deducted off the bottom of our contract not the top.

Your payment will be complete with us when your balance reaches \$45,313.92 or approximately your payment #182.

You, Steve and your attorney agreed to this in lieu of 2% raise in the contract or the payment of our income taxes for 1983.

Second Affidavit of Keith Holt, Record pp. 209-219, Appendix Exhibit 6.

Again, Manuel Katsanevas did not object until late 1989.

The depositions of Manuel Katsanevas and Keith Holt were published under URCP Rule 32 and by Judge Brian's order dated January 2, 1992, Record pp. 254-257.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

A. Utah case law has long recognized that if a party has changed his position by performing an oral modification so that it would be inequitable to permit the other party to found a claim upon the original agreement as unmodified or defeat the former's claim by setting up a defense that performance was not according to the written contract, after he has induced or consented to the former going forward, the modified agreement should be held valid.

B. Summary judgment against the Holts was manifest error due to the following facts:

1. The Holts and Katsanevases, each for new consideration, orally agreed to modify their original Uniform Real Estate Contract. Part of that modification was an agreement to apply the Katsanevases' payment to Continental Bank to the "bottom" of the contract.

2. In reliance upon the oral modification, the Holts conveyed title to the Katsanevases, permitted payment to Continental Bank, and accepted alternate security for the purchase price.

3. Documents drafted by the Katsanevases' attorney which mentioned \$172,000 were ambiguous in light of the oral agreement, were signed after the Holts' performance, and were reasonably understood by the Holts to not be intended as a modification of the oral agreement.

VI. ARGUMENT

There is manifest error when summary judgment is granted despite the existence of genuine issues of material fact. Rule 56(c), U.R.C.P.; Benchmark, Inc. v. Salt Lake Valley Mental Health Board, Inc., 175 Utah Adv. Rep. 13 (Utah 1991). The

existence of an enforceable oral agreement to apply the \$46,386.51 payment to the contract when principal had been reduced to that figure is a genuine issue of material fact which precludes summary judgment.

The trial court may have believed that such an oral agreement was not enforceable because it fell within the Statute of Frauds, U.C.A. 25-5-1, et seq. This was an error of law.

In Allen v. Kingdon, 723 P.2d 394, 396-397 (Utah 1986), the Supreme Court stated:

The rule is well settled in Utah that if the original agreement is within the statute of frauds, a subsequent agreement that modifies any of the material parts of the original must also satisfy the statute. Golden Key Realty, Inc. v. Mantas, 699 P. 2d 730, 732 (Utah 1985). An exception to this general rule has been recognized where a party has changed position by performing an oral modification so that it would be inequitable to permit the other party to found a claim or defense on the original agreement as unmodified. White v. Fox, 665 P.2d 1297, 1301 (Utah 1983) (citing Bamberger Co. v. Certified Productions, Inc., 88 Utah 194, 201, 48 P.2d 489, 492 (1935), aff'd on rehearing, 88 Utah 213, 53 P.2d 1153 (1936)).

In Utah Mercur Gold Min. Co. v. Hershel Gold Min. Co., 103 Utah 249, 134 P.2d 1094, 1097 (1943), the Court stated:

Whether the legal label given to the basis of plaintiffs' claimed right to continue in possession of the property is equitable estoppel, irrevocable license, or an oral contract for a written extension taken out of the statute of frauds because of partial performance is not so important. These concepts are but forms designed to serve a more ultimate principle that no one shall induce another to act on promise of reward for such act and then after obtaining the benefit of the same repudiate the contract.

In Bamberger, supra, the Court stated:

As stated by Mr. Justice Cordozo, then justice of the Court of Appeals of New York, . . . : "Sometimes the resulting disability has been characterized as an estoppel, sometimes as a waiver. * * * We need not go into the question of the accuracy of the description. * * * The truth is that we are facing a principle more nearly ultimate than either waiver or estoppel, one with roots in the yet larger principle that no one shall be permitted to found any claim upon his own inequity or take advantage of his own wrong. * * * The statute of frauds was not intended to offer an asylum of escape from that fundamental principle of justice."

We accept this principle. If a party has changed his position by performing an oral modification so that it would be inequitable to permit the other party to found a claim upon the original agreement as unmodified or defeat the former's claim by setting up a defense that performance was not according to the written contract, after he has induced or consented to the former going forward, the modified agreement should be held valid.

Bamberger at 492.

The trial court may have believed that the figure of \$172,000 which appeared in the Assignment of Contract and the Release concluded the matter. The proper interpretation of this figure requires resolution of factual issues. Any uncertainty with respect to construction of a contract should be resolved against the party whose attorney drafted the agreement. Sears v. Riemersma, 655 P.2d 1105 (Utah 1982). \$172,000 would approximate the unpaid principal whether the \$46,386.51 was applied to the "top" or the "bottom" of the contract. See illustration.

TOP OF
CONTRACT

\$46,386
(Paid)

\$172,000
(Unpaid)

BOTTOM OF
CONTRACT

\$172,000
(Unpaid)

\$46,386
(Paid)