1992

Keith C. Holt, Joyce S. Holt v. Manuel Katsanevas : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The defense of the Statute of Frauds has been consistently recognized and upheld in situations similar to

the facts of the case at bar.

Plaintiffs can not now on appeal, through new counsel, complain of the trial court's refusal to find a material issue of fact to be in dispute. Plaintiffs filed their own motion for summary judgment alleging therein that there was no material issue of fact in dispute, and that the court could find, as a matter of law, the issues at bar. See Addendum exhibit 16, R-00142 through 00144, wherein counsel for plaintiffs represents to the trial court that the first seventeen (17) paragraphs are undisputed facts. The facts as presented to the trial court through the various affidavits, depositions, and the responses to the request for admissions, clearly show that there is no material issue of fact in dispute, in that Katsanevas had never agreed to allow the lump sum payment to be applied "to the end of the contract", which would have resulted in unjust windfall to the Holts of approximately \$ 65,000.00. Katsanevas was not obligated contractually or legally, and did not have a duty or an "ethical" obligation to confer such a substantial benefit or "gift" to the Holts. The Holts had agreed to allow the exchange of the collateral from the South Temple location, to the North Temple location, on the same terms and identical lien position (second only to the SBA in both instances) on or about November 10, 1982, without a demand for any other or additional consideration. It is clear from the evidence that

the thought of gaining unfair advantage of Katsanevas did not occur to the Holts until sometime in 1986.

ARGUMENT

I

**PLAINTIFFS' CONTENTION THAT THE PARTIES
AGREED THAT THE LUMP SUM PAYMENT WAS TO BE
APPLIED TO THE BOTTOM OF THE CONTRACT
IS UNENFORCEABLE BY VIRTUE OF THE STATUTE
OF FRAUDS.**

The trial court below found that there was no agreement between Katsanevas and the Holts for the application of the lump sum amount other than as applied by Katsanevas, and, further, that Katsanevas did not agree orally or in writing to do otherwise.

The record clearly and unequivocally reflects the undisputed facts, paragraphs 1 through 17 (R-00142 to 00144) as stated in plaintiffs' memorandum in support of their motion for summary judgment. Those facts which were clearly admitted as not in dispute can not now be controverted; the trial Court relied upon the admission of those facts in making and entering its findings.

In order to challenge the trial court's findings of fact "an appellant must first marshall all the evidence supporting the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the findings even in viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below." *Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Ins.*, 776 P.2d 896, at 899 (Utah

1989).

The rule is well settled in Utah that if an original agreement is within the statute of frauds, a subsequent agreement which modifies the original written agreement must also satisfy the requirements of the statute of frauds to be enforceable." *Wardley Corp. v. Burgess*, 810 P.2d 476 (Utah Ct.App. 1991); citing *Golden Key Realty, Inc., v. Mantas*, 699 P.2d 730, 732 (Utah 1985). See also *Coombs v. Ouzounian*, 465 P.2d 356, 358 (Utah 1970) (extension of option must be in writing). This rule of law applies especially to transfers of interests in land. *Combined Metals, Inc., v. Bastian*, 71 Utah 535, 267 P 1020 (Utah 1928).

The Uniform Real Estate Contract between the Holts and Katsanevas was entered into on or about April 2, 1979; it involved the transfer of an interest in land. The contract complied and satisfied the requirements of § 25-5-3 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, which states:

"Every contract for . . . the sale, of any land, or any interest in lands, shall be void unless the contract, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party by whom . . . the sale is to be made."

Utah law requires that any modification or alteration of the original contract between Holts and Katsanevas must also be in writing in order to satisfy the statute of frauds. plaintiffs' contention that the lump sum reduction of \$ 46,386.51 would only be applied at the end of

the contract is, in fact, an attempt to modify and alter a material term of the original contract.

Since the alleged agreement between the Holts and the Katsanevas attempts to modify the original contract, it must also be in writing and must be signed by the parties to be charged. Therefore, without a written memorandum, signed by the party to be charged, the oral agreement altering the terms of the Uniform Real Estate Contract, is unenforceable as it falls within the statute of frauds.

It is respectfully submitted that plaintiffs' claim that the lump sum payment be applied to the bottom of the contract can not be sustained and that the order of the trial Court should be affirmed in its entirety.

II
PLAINTIFFS CAN NOT INTRODUCE
PAROL EVIDENCE IN ORDER TO PROVE
THE MODIFICATION OF A WRITTEN CONTRACT.

Plaintiffs' contention that there was a separate subsequent oral agreement between the Holts and Katsanevas, whereby Katsanevas agreed to apply the \$ 46,386.51 lump sum loan payment at the end of the contract is unenforceable in that it violates the parol evidence rule.

Absent fraud or other invalidating causes, the integrity of a written contract is maintained by not admitting parol evidence to vary or contradict the terms of the written agreement(s) of the parties. The November 10, 1982, letter

from Holt to Katsanevas, wherein the Holts agreed to a substitution of collateral upon the payment of an approximate sum of \$ 50,000.00, and the November 7, 1983 letter agreement (R-00114), wherein the Holts affirmatively agree that "... the amount of \$ 48,000.00 or such lesser amount shall reduce the principal sum, owed to you under the real estate contract, by the same amount ...", are the basis of the defenses of this lawsuit; both of those documents reflect a clear and unambiguous agreement. In their complaint the Holts attempt to alter the clear terms of the written agreement(s) through the assertion that "...[b]y reason of Manuel Katsanevas' claim, the Plaintiff is in great doubt as to whether the 1983/1984 payment should be applied as agreed ..." (complaint paragraph 9, R-00003); this assertion is directly contrary to the terms of the written documents which provide for the application of the \$ 46,386.41 payment.

The plaintiffs have offered no written instruments signed by Katsanevas, which would alter the terms of Uniform Real Estate Contract; thus plaintiffs failed to create a genuine issue as to any material fact relating to the oral agreement which they are seeking to impose upon Katsanevas, which would in turn would require the reversal of the trial Court.

Plaintiffs attempt to bootstrap the validity of their claim and seek to overcome the prohibition of the parol

evidence rule, by the use of a letter (allegedly dated March 17, 1986), which they claim they mailed to Manuel Katsanevas, almost twenty eight (28) months after the \$ 46,386.51 payment was made to Continental Bank by Katsanevas. There is no evidence in the record that Katsanevas ever received that letter, or that he ever saw it before the letter was presented to him during the legal proceeding. Assuming *arguendo* that the letter was in fact seen by Katsanevas at the time it was allegedly mailed, for that letter to be considered by the Court, and to be juxtaposed against all other written instruments, it must have been written and mailed contemporaneously with or on or about the time the payment was made by Katsanevas, and not so long thereafter.

Plaintiffs' contention that there was an oral agreement between themselves and Katsanevas, whereby the Katsanevas brothers agreed to apply the \$ 46,386.51 lump sum loan payment at the end of the contract is also unenforceable in that it violates the statute of frauds.

III
DEFENDANT OBJECTED TO AND MOVED THAT
PLAINTIFFS' "NEW" PROPOSED AFFIDAVITS BE
STRICKEN BY THE TRIAL COURT ON THE BASIS THAT
THE SAME DID NOT COMPLY WITH RULE 56(e)
OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

After the entry by the trial court of its order and judgment granting defendant's motion for summary judgment and denying plaintiffs' cross motion for summary judgment,

plaintiffs in support of their various motions, before the trial Court, submitted an affidavit by Robert A. Bailey, the "Bailey Affidavit". Defendant moved timely, and objected to the Bailey Affidavit, and asked the trial Court to strike the same³. The basis for defendant's request that the Bailey Affidavit should be stricken were two: first, the affidavit was not "newly" discovered evidence, and even if it were, it contained inadmissible, irrelevant and hearsay evidence; in any event, even if, assuming *arguendo*, that the Bailey Affidavit was properly made and properly submitted to the trial Court, in accordance with Rule 56(e) of the *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*, the affidavit speaks of the creation of an oral agreement, modifying the written terms of the real estate contract. For purposes of this analysis an examination of the Bailey Affidavit shows the following; the Bailey Affidavit states that

8. Keith's third plan was to apply the payment to Continental Bank to the end of the contract. They [Katsanevas] would continue making their regular payments until the principal balance was reduced to the amount of their payment to Continental Bank. At that time, their payment would be credited to the contract which would then be paid in full. ¶ 8 of Bailey Affidavit.

9. Keith and the Katsanevas brothers agreed to the third plan. I remember them standing and shaking

³ See Addendum, exhibits 17 and 18, which are defendant's objections to the proposed affidavits, and to the various other motions for relief made by defendants' new counsel.

hands on the deal. ¶ 9 of Bailey Affidavit.

Even as Bailey suggests that the Appellant [Keith Holt] may have come out "smelling like a rose" (¶ 10 Bailey Affidavit), Bailey is merely testifying that he witnessed an event whereby a material term of the real estate contract (the application of payment proceeds) was orally being changed to support the now "new" espoused position of plaintiffs.

Regardless of the outcome of the subsequent lunch celebration at Diamond Lil's, and the relevance of the lunch, as had by all of the participants (¶ 10 Bailey Affidavit), the fundamental issues in this case have not changed. The statute of frauds was specifically enacted in order to prevent this type of posturing.

The Bailey Affidavit attempts to create a material issue of fact in dispute so that the trial Court's disposition on a summary judgment basis may be reversed by this reviewing Court. However, the trial Court properly excluded the irrelevant and inadmissible evidence of the Bailey Affidavit, and there was no basis for a finding that a genuine issue as to any material fact, remained in dispute.

An analysis of the Second Affidavit of Keith C. Holt, the "Second Holt Affidavit" would also show that it contained numerous irrelevant, immaterial, and inadmissible "facts", which were allegedly made, after the trial Court granted defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. Objections

to the Second Holt Affidavit were timely and properly made by defendant. In the interest of time and space, and wishing not to burden this Court with repetitive arguments, defendant respectfully submits, that the trial Court properly excluded the irrelevant, and inadmissible parts of the Second Holt Affidavit, and refused to grant relief to Appellant, pursuant to plaintiffs' various motions. Therefore, the trial Court did not abuse its authority, in refusing to grant to plaintiffs relief pursuant to their various and sundry motions.

Furthermore, plaintiffs have failed to adequately marshall the evidence in order to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence which fully support the findings of fact as entered by the trial Court in its memorandum decision. It is the plaintiffs' burden, in order to successfully challenge the detailed findings of fact of the trial Court, to find and produce to this Court the fatal flaw in the evidence which would support the reversal of the trial Court's decision. See: *West Valley City, v. Majestic Inv. Co.*, 818 P.2d 1311 (Utah App. 1991). This heavy burden has not been met by the plaintiffs as they appear before this Court.

**IV
PLAINTIFFS BY THEIR ACTIONS
AND CONDUCT, WAIVED THE PROHIBITION
AGAINST EARLY PREPAYMENT.**

Plaintiffs' actions prior to the December 21, 1983,

payment, along with their subsequent conduct, evidenced an intent to waive the contractual provision against early prepayment contained in the real estate contract.

It is an established rule of law that "[a] party to a contract may waive provisions for his benefit." 17A C.J.S. § 491. Waiver has been defined as "the intentional relinquishment of a known right." *Barnes v. Wood*, 750 P.2d 1226 (Utah Ct.App. 1988). To waive a right, there must be an existing right, benefit, or advantage; knowledge of its existence; and an intention to relinquish it. *Id.* at 1230.

In the present case, plaintiffs received a benefit from the contractual provision. The prohibition against prepayment of interest or principal before 120 months allowed the Holts to extend the contract and gain revenue from the interest payments. Secondly, the Holts knew intimately of the contractual provision since it was placed in the contract for their benefit and at their direction.

However, through plaintiffs' expressed consent and conduct, plaintiffs relinquished their right and waived the contractual provision against early prepayment. plaintiffs' actions, viewed in sequence, illustrate that they did not intend or desire to enforce the contractual provision against early prepayment of principal or interest, and as such they waived their right to this benefit. Not only may waiver be expressed, also "[w]aiver can be implied from conduct."

Andersen v. Brinkerhoff, 756 P.2d 95, 98 (Utah Ct.App. 1988).

When one examines plaintiffs' subsequent conduct, after they had sent their consent to the loan payoff to Manuel Katsanevas, we find that their conduct also evidenced an intent to waive the prepayment provision. "[W]aiver exists where a party ... through its objective conduct evidences an intent to waive that right regardless of some privately-held intention to the contrary. *Vali Convalescent & Care Inst. v. DOH*, 797 P.2d 438, n.18 p. 447 (Utah Ct.App. 1990) (emphasis in the original); citing *B. R. Woodward Mktg., Inc., v. Collins Food Serv., Inc.*, 754 P.2d at 101-04 (Utah Ct.App. 1988).

Defendant, through his attorney, sent a letter dated November 7, 1982, (R-109) to the Holts delineating that the sum (approximately \$ 50,000.00) to be paid to Continental Bank and Trust Company to cancel plaintiffs' obligation to Citizens National Bank should/would be applied to the principal balance immediately upon receipt of the amount by Continental Bank and Trust Company. Through plaintiffs' actions at that time, and plaintiffs subsequent conduct, plaintiffs waived the provisions against early prepayment.

For at least twenty eight months following the payment by Katsanevas to Continental Bank & Trust, at no time after receipt of the November 7, 1983, letter, or in any of the subsequent transaction between Katsanevas and the Holts,

did the Holts alert or notify Katsanevas that the contractual provision was violated or that the Holts would seek enforcement of the contractual provision prohibiting early pre-payment.

Furthermore, on February 13, 1984, pursuant to the collateral exchange agreement, (only days after the payment by Katsanevas to the bank), the Katsanevas brothers executed an "Assignment of Contract (For Security)" (R-122 to 124) of the North Temple property as collateral against the then remaining principal balance of their debt to the Holts which was stated in the document as approximately \$ 172,000.00. The plaintiff's received this "Assignment of Contract" and did not controvert nor dispute the principal amount owing by the Katsanevas brothers. The \$ 172,000.00 amount in the "Assignment of Contract" represented the application of the \$ 46,386.51 to the principal balance at the time the payment was inn fact made. This instrument was properly recorded on February 17, 1984.

Then, the Holts themselves executed and signed a written "Release" on March 15, 1984, (R-126) (less than three months from the day that Katsanevas made the payment to the bank), whereby they discharged Steve Katsanevas from his obligation under the Uniform Real Estate Contract. In the Release, plaintiffs allowed Manuel Katsanevas to assume the entire obligation then due to the plaintiff's which was stated

as approximately the sum of \$ 172,000.00. Again, the \$ 172,000.00 amount represents the principal amount owing with the \$ 46,386.51 [payment to Continental Bank] payment calculated as having been made ... when in fact made, on December 21, 1983.

Based upon plaintiffs' consent that Katsanevas pay off the Citizens National Bank loan #1-6566 to Continental Bank and Trust Company (R-114) along with their subsequent actions confirming that the principal amount was calculated by subtracting the \$ 46,386.51 off the contract (when made) on December 21, 1983, the Holts by and through their actions waived the contractual provision against early principal prepayment(s).

"[I]t is perhaps more accurate to view the ultimate conclusion whether waiver has occurred, given particular facts, as a question of law." *B.R. Woodward Marketing, Inc., v. Collins Food Service, Inc.*, 754 P.2d 99, 101 (Utah Ct.App. 1988); see *Diversified Equities, Inc., v. American Savings & Loan Ass'n*, 739 P.2d 1133, 1136 (Utah Ct.App. 1987) ("Where the facts are not in material dispute, interpretation placed thereon by trial court becomes a question of law...."). Therefore, Holts' conduct, viewed objectively by the court, only lends itself to only one conclusion and the interpretation that the Holts waived the contractual provision against early principal prepayments. Therefore, since there

are no material facts in dispute, Katsanevas' motion for summary judgment was properly granted by the trial Court.

V
**PLAINTIFFS ARE ESTOPPED BY THEIR ACTIONS
IN DENYING THAT THE \$ 46,386.51 LUMP SUM
PAYMENT WAS NOT APPLICABLE AT THE TOP OF
THE REAL ESTATE CONTRACT**

Due to the Holts' actions and conduct, the Holts are estopped from claiming that the lump sum payment of \$ 46,386.51, could not be applied to the principal balance on December 21, 1983.

The elements of estoppel are as follows:

(i) [A] statement, admission, act, or failure to act by one party inconsistent with a claim later asserted; (ii) reasonable action or inaction by the other party taken or not taken on the basis of the first party's statement, admission, act or failure to act; and (iii) injury to the second party that would result from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate such statement, admission, act, or failure to act.

Avila v. Winn, 794 P.2d 20, 22 (Utah 1990); see also *CECO v. Concrete Specialists, Inc.*, 772 P.2d 967, 969-70 (Utah 1989); *United American Life Ins. Co. v. Zions First Nat'l Bank*, 641 P.2d 158, 161 (Utah 1982); *Celebrity Club, Inc., v. Utah Liquor Control Comm'n*, 602 P.2d 689, 694 (Utah 1979); *J.P. Koch, Inc., v. J.C. Penney Co.*, 534 P.2d 903, 905 (Utah 1975).

On or about October 25, 1983, the Holts consented to the Katsanevas paying off the Holts' loan #1-6566. This payment made by the Katsanevas was not a voluntary principal prepayment. The \$ 46,386.51 payment was requested by the

Continental Bank and Trust Company, Holts' lender. On or about November 7, 1983, Katsanevas, through his attorney, sent to the Holts a letter whereby Katsanevas confirmed the terms and conditions of the collateral agreement as he understood them to be based upon the discussions between the Katsanevas brothers and the Holts. At no time after receiving this letter, until the initiation of this suit, did the Holts notify the Katsanevas, or his attorney, that any discrepancy existed between the terms set forth in the letter and the terms reached in the agreement between the Katsanevas and the Holts.

The November 7, 1983 letter, in conjunction with the October 25, 1983, letter induced Katsanevas to go in debt himself in the sum of \$ 46,386.51 in order to satisfy the Holts' loan #1-6566 on the belief that the \$ 46,386.51 would reduce the principal amount by the same amount.

Due to Holts' actions in agreeing with Katsanevas that the application of the lump sum would be applied to the principal (when made), and the inaction taken by the Holts in response to the confirmation letter sent to the Holts on November 7, 1983, Katsanevas borrowed the funds needed for the payoff and made the payment to Continental bank; thus Katsanevas's actions in securing a loan for the loan balance amount was a reasonable and foreseeable action. This action was induced and was based upon Holts' representations, both

expressed and implied, that the lump sum payment made to cover the loan would be deducted from the principal amount owing at that time.

Furthermore, if the Holts were allowed to repudiate their initial representations, and have a change of mind as to the application of the lump sum payment, Katsanevas would suffer damages amounting to approximately \$ 65,000.00. Since Katsanevas has satisfied all of the requirements necessary for the defense of estoppel, Katsanevas' motion for summary judgment was properly granted.

VI
THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER GRANTING
SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANT
SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

Defendant respectfully submits that it plainly appears from the record before this Court, that the proposed grounds for review are very insubstantial; there is no substantial question being presented to this Court, and therefore, this Court should affirm the judgment of the trial court.